# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 88,961

JUAN ROBERTO MELENDEZ,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GAIL E. ANDERSON
Assistant CCR
Florida Bar No. 0841544
OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL
COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE
Post Office Drawer 5498
Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498
(904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 13, 1994, Mr. Melendez sought Rule 3.850 relief based on newly discovered evidence. The circuit court ordered an evidentiary hearing which was held on May 23 and 24, 1996. On July 17, 1996, the circuit court ruled against Mr. Melendez and filed an Order Denying Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence.

Mr. Melendez filed a Motion for Rehearing which was denied. This appeal followed.

Mr. Melendez is innocent of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. The murder was committed by another man, Vernon James, who confessed his involvement in the crime to at least four people, who testified at the evidentiary hearing in the lower court. Mr. James' confessions are consistent with his possession of money and drugs on the morning after the crime and his possession of Mr. Baker's jewelry. This evidence is also consistent with that of a trial witness, perhaps the last person to see Mr. Baker alive, who saw Mr. James and his friend Harold Landrum, aka "Bobo," with Mr. Baker shortly before his death. This new evidence when viewed cumulatively presents a compelling case for Mr. Melendez's innocence.

#### A. THE TRIAL RECORD

Mr. Melendez was convicted and sentenced to death for the September 13, 1983, murder of Mr. Delbert Baker. The murder occurred at Mr. Baker's beauty school in Auburndale, Florida. Police failed to prevent the contamination of the crime scene and to preserve important evidence that would have assisted their

investigation- Stella Dunlap, a beauty school employee, testified that the police took the sign-in book (R. 274-75). Detective Knapp admitted examining the customer sign-in log at the crime scene, but the police later denied recovering it and failed to produce it for the defense (R. 386-87). Knapp testified that he did not consider this evidence important enough to copy for his records (R. 387). Dr. Drake, the pathologist, testified that the police gave him permission to use the phone at the crime scene although the investigation was incomplete and the phone had not yet been checked for prints (R. The police at the scene were unconcerned with preserving fingerprints on the phone although bloody footprints, presumably left by Mr. Baker's killer, led from the body into the office and were concentrated near the phone (R. 354). The police also failed to properly secure the crime scene when several employee/students were permitted inside the beauty school the day after Mr. Baker's body was discovered (R. 264, 275, 287, 290-91). The police checked the victim's car, and although they found a moist substance on the seat, they did not preserve it for testing (R. 388). The police took a picture at the crime scene of a refrigerator indicating that a bullet had ricocheted off its side (R. 521). However, because their evidence recovery was sloppy, the actual projectile was found twelve days later by a cleaning person (R. 375). The police at the scene also failed to check the many razors that could normally be found in the hair salon for blood or prints although it was obvious at the time that Mr.

Baker's throat had been cut with a sharp knife or razor (R. 389) .

The police were equally sloppy in preserving the evidence they did recover from the crime scene. A pair of shoes found near Mr. Baker's body was not checked for evidence and was later lost (R. 391, 523). A large hunting knife with a brown stain on it was found in a drawer near the body but was never checked for prints or submitted to a lab (R. 385-86, 528). Finally, the police retrieved a blood sample at the scene that was believed to belong to Mr. Baker's killer but stored it in an evidence locker despite their awareness that blood must be refrigerated in order to be preserved (R. 529); as result, the sample putrefied and the lab either refused to accept it for testing (R. 523) or sent it back because of its contaminated state (R. 391).

The first lead developed by the police was Terry Barber who testified for the defense that he arrived at the beauty school at about 5:45 p.m. on the night of the murder (R. 572). While he spoke to Mr. Baker, he saw two men in the back room whom he identified as Vernon James and "Bobo," whose real name is Harold Landrum (R. 575, 647-48). Mr. Barber, a frequent customer at the beauty school, testified that he had never seen Mr. Melendez before (R. 579). After speaking to Mr. Baker, Mr. Barber left the beauty school at about 6:15 p.m. (R. 577). Mr. James was picked up for questioning the next morning, and the police seized his clothes and shoes to test for blood or other evidence connecting him to the crime; however, these items were returned to Mr. James without testing and Mr. James was released (R. 631).

Significantly, Mr. James' fingerprints were never compared to those retrieved from the crime scene (R. 642). When Mr.

Melendez's trial attorney asked FDLE Agent Roper whether Mr.

James had admitted to being present at the crime, the State's objection was sustained (R. 643-44). The defense unsuccessfully argued that such an admission was admissible as a statement against penal interest (R. 644). Harold Landrum, aka "Bobo," was also questioned by the police, and a pair of sneakers with a "dot" tread matching the bloody prints at the crime scene were seized from him (R. 631). However, Mr. Landrum's shoes were never tested and he was released from custody (R. 631).

Police attention focused on Mr. Melendez approximately six months later when David Luna Falcon told Agent Roper of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement that Mr. Melendez had confessed to the murder (R. 440, 468) . Mr. Falcon's story was that Mr. Melendez told him that a man named John had driven Mr. Melendez and another black man to Mr. Baker's beauty school (R. 441). After the other man cut Mr. Baker's throat, the victim began "picking up the blood" and throwing it at his assailants (R. 443) . Mr. Melendez allegedly told Mr. Falcon that as the victim offered his assailants a million dollars to take him to the hospital, he shot him using a pillow as a silencer (R. 443-44, 456). According to Mr. Falcon's story, Mr. Melendez went to

<sup>&#</sup>x27;This story is contradicted by the testimony of the Medical Examiner Dr. Drake who testified that the cut to Mr. Baker's throat severed a vein, not an artery, and that the blood was from the gunshots because a severed vein would not cause the victim to bleed profusely (R. 353).

Mr. Baker's to have sex with him and rob him (R. 440, 442). Mr. Falcon contacted Agent Roper about three weeks after Mr. Melendez allegedly told him this story (R. 447).

Mr. Falcon testified that he had worked an undercover operation in Puerto Rico for the Justice Department (R. 435, 463-641, that he sells information to law enforcement (R. 459), and that he was currently working for the Auburndale Police Department (R. 447-49, 459). He admitted that he had been convicted of homicide (R. 452), but testified that he had never carried a gun in Polk County (R. 462). Mr. Falcon denied knowing anything about a shooting incident in Auburndale in which men claiming to be police officers broke into a home (R. 457). However, Detective Glisson, who investigated this incident, testified that the victims, Mr. and Mrs. Reagan, identified Mr. Falcon as the man who broke into their home, kicked down a door, threatened their lives, and shot three bullets into their car and two stray bullets into the neighbor's lawn (R. 560-62). In addition, the State stipulated that if able to testify, Mr. Reagan would identify Mr. Falcon as the man who terrorized his family (R. 425). Mrs. Reagan signed a waiver of prosecution after being told that she could be charged with drug offenses (R. 568), and that Mr. Falcon would get out of jail and return to hurt her (R. 539). Detective Glisson also testified that Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Mr. Melendez sought to have the Reagans testify at his trial and received court approval of the costs for them to travel from New England. However, trial counsel failed to subpoena them and they did not appear for trial.

Falcon was working for him despite his homicide conviction, but denied that he pressured the Reagans to drop the charges against Mr. Falcon (R. 538, 540). Mr. Falcon testified that he and his brother accompanied Detective Glisson when he interviewed John Berrien at the county jail (R. 455).

The State also presented the testimony of John Berrien, a convicted felon who had been charged with first degree murder for Mr. Baker's death (R. 323). John Berrien spent one hundred and six days in jail (R. 328) before he was offered a deal by which he pled no contest to accessory after the fact and would be released and placed on either probation or house arrest in exchange for his testimony against Mr. Melendez (R. 324). Berrien testified that Mr. Melendez asked for a ride to Mr. Baker's school in Auburndale so that he could have his hair done and pick up some money (R. 305-06). John Berrien did not remember the day or date when this occurred (R. 308), or even whether it was before or after his marriage on September 2, 1983 John Berrien testified that he drove his cousin George Berrien and Mr. Melendez from Lakeland to Mr. Baker's school at about 4:00 p.m. (R. 308). He testified that he observed a bulge in the back of Mr. Melendez's pants that could have been a gun (R. 311), but that he never saw either man with a gun (R. 311). He testified that he did not know whether George and Mr. Melendez went into the beauty school but that he picked them up at about 5:30 or 5:45 p.m. (R. 333). George Berrien and Mr. Melendez were not excited, scared, or bloody when he picked them up (R. 334).

John Berrien testified that George Berrien and Mr. Melendez spoke to each other in Spanish on the ride back to Lakeland (R. 316). He also testified that sometime later, he was not sure when, he drove George and Mr. Melendez to the train station where George Berrien boarded a train for Delaware after Mr. Melendez gave him two rings, a watch, and a gun to be sold there (R. 320-21).

George Berrien testified for the defense and denied everything, including his ability to speak Spanish (R. 660). He testified that he does not know Mr. Melendez but had seen him once at his cousin John's house (R. 656). Although the State argued at Mr. Melendez's trial that he was "equally guilty" and "equally involved . . . in committing the murder" (R. 786-87), George Berrien was never arrested or charged with any crime (R. 657). George Berrien confirmed only one detail of John Berrien's testimony against Mr. Melendez: that he took a train to Delaware (R. 658, 665); however, he denied that his cousin drove him to the station and testified that his cousin's car was in the repair shop on the day he left for Delaware (R. 665), George Berrien testified that when he told his cousin to stop lying, John Berrien replied that "if he changed his statement, the State Attorney was going to put a murder charge on him, so he was going to stick to what he's saying" (R. 661).

Agent Roper testified that no evidence of the crime was found in John Berrien's car. Fingerprints lifted from the car were sent for comparison with those taken from George Berrien and Mr. Melendez, but no matches were found (R. 642-43). In

addition, no matches were made when the prints found at the crime scene were compared with those inside John Berrien's car (R. 643). The crime lab also found no blood or other evidence in the car to support John Berrien's testimony (R. 641). The police did not compare Mr. James' prints with those found at the crime scene (R. 642), although he was the original suspect.

е

Mr. Melendez also presented the testimony of Dorothy Rivera that they were together from about 5:00 p.m. on the day of Mr. Baker's death until the next morning (R. 487, 493). Ms. Rivera specifically remembers that she spent that night with Mr. Melendez because it was her first wedding anniversary and her husband was out of the state (R. 484, 487). Ms. Rivera testified that she had a conversation with her sister about her relationship with Mr. Melendez and her plans to spend her wedding anniversary with him (R. 487). Marie Graham and Wilson Angelo Graham, Ms. Rivera's sister and brother-in-law, also testified that during September 1983 Ms. Rivera was living with them but that she spent nights with Mr. Melendez at his apartment (R. 501-02, 506-07) . Ms. Graham specifically remembers that Mr. Melendez was at her house on September 13, 1983, with Ms. Rivera because she had spoken to her sister about spending her wedding anniversary with him (R. 502).

Ms. Rivera, Mr. Graham, and Ruby Colon, Ms. Rivera's mother, also testified that Mr. Falcon had made statements in their presence that he would either get Mr. Melendez in jail or would kill him. Ms. Rivera testified that Mr. Falcon "told me that he

was going to testify on [Mr. Melendezl and put him in jail" (R. 489). When Ms. Rivera asked whether the testimony that Mr. Melendez had confessed was true, "[Mr. Falcon] said no. He said I'm just going to hurt him" (R. 490). Mr. Graham testified that Mr. Falcon had told him that he did not like Mr. Melendez and that he wanted to kill him (R. 506). Ms. Colon also heard Mr. Falcon make these statements about Mr. Melendez. She testified that she heard Mr. Falcon say "[t] hat he was going to get him killed, and if they didn't kill him, he would" (R. 510). after making this statement, Mr. Falcon made a phone call and then left Ms. Colon's house to meet someone at a stadium three blocks away (R. 510-11). When asked whether Mr. Falcon ever told her where he went when he left her house that night, Ms. Colon responded: "[h]e just say he was trying to get [Mr. Melendez] killed, that what he said, 'cause he didn't like him" (R. 469). Mr. Falcon testified that he called Agent Roper from Ms. Colon's apartment to set up a meeting and then left to tell him that Mr. Melendez had confessed (R. 454-55). Agent Roper's testimony confirms that Mr. Falcon was the source of the story that John and George Berrien and Mr. Melendez were involved in Mr. Baker's death (R. 468).

Mr. Melendez also called Mr. James, the original suspect, as a witness. Mr. James was first warned by the court that his testimony could be used against him, and he was then appointed a lawyer who recommended that he not testify because his testimony would tend to incriminate him (R. 595). Mr. James then refused

to testify (R. 595). Mr. James later agreed to testify, but only if his cellmate Roger Mims did not testify against him (R. 625-26). Mr. James was concerned that Mr. Mims' testimony would create evidence for the State against him; he feared that Mr. Mims would testify that Mr. James had confessed to cutting Mr. Baker's throat (Id.). Mr. James indicated that he would be willing to tell what he knew about Mr. Baker's death but that he was not present (R. 626). Mr. Melendez's trial attorney indicated to the court that if Mr. Mims did not agree to testify against Mr. James, then Mr. James would testify for the defense (Id.).

Mr. Mims' testimony had already been proffered by the defense because the State objected to its admissibility (R. 598-99). Before he could be questioned about Mr. James' incriminating statements, Mr. Mims expressed his reluctance to testify because he feared for his life (R. 610, 618); he was willing to risk being held in contempt and sentenced to an additional six months in order to avoid testifying (R. 612, 614). Mr. Mims was willing to testify when the State agreed to move him to another county jail (R. 622-23). Mr. Mims then testified that Mr. James had confessed to Mr. Baker's murder and had told him that the two men who were charged had nothing to do with it (R. 634). Mr. James had admitted that he had cut Mr. Baker's throat and that his partners had shot him (R. 635). Further, Mr. Mims testified that Mr. James had specifically said that Mr. Melendez and another man named John were completely uninvolved (R. 635).

Mr. James had told Mr. Mims that the victim was his lover (R. 639) and that the two other men involved in the killing were also homosexual (R. 635). Mr. Mims had contacted the State Attorney's Office with this information and had also spoken to Agent Roper (R. 636).

In closing, the prosecutor argued that the issue in the case was not whether a crime had been committed but "who committed the crime." (R. 691). To decide who committed the crime, the prosecutor urged the jury "to believe what John Berrien testified to" (R. 695), and then went through the conflicts between John Berrien's testimony and other testimony (R. 695-99).

Regarding Falcon, the prosecutor told the jurors they would "have to decide if Mr. Falcon is a person worthly of belief or not" (R. 699), and then pointed out that Falcon was in Puerto Rico in September, 1983, and that Falcon had worked for the Justice Department (R. 700). Later, the prosecutor asked, "Why would [Falcon] lie?" (R. 704). Falcon would not lie, according to the prosecutor, because he "ha[d] nothing to gain in this case." (R. 705). Falcon had "nothing to gain" because "he had already given his testimony in the case, two months before the [Reagan] shooting even happened" and because:

Oh, he got a little money from the Auburndale Police Department for helping them out on some drug cases, but he was not charged in this case. He did not agree to testify in return for some deal. He had absolutely nothing to gain at all by getting on the witness stand. He even went to the police with the information he got, they didn't come looking for him and say, hey, David, what do you know about the crime. He went out and

developed information himself as to who committed the crime and went to the police.

Now, probably the reason he did that is because he worked for the police in the past. He had been an informant of -- he called it the Justice Department in the past and had given information to law enforcement in the past, so that's why he did it in this case, but the man stands to gain nothing by his testimony. There is no reason for him to get on the witness stand and lie.

## (R. 705-06).

Finally, at the close of the State's rebuttal argument, after responding to the defense evidence, the prosecutor argued, "somebody's lying. That's going to be up to you to decide who's lying and who's telling the truth" (R. 737), and concluded:

The evidence presented from the witnesses, the State feels, proves beyond a reasonable doubt that Juan Melendez was involved in the murder. Now, Mr. Alcott can throw all sorts of other names at you and say maybe this guy did it, maybe that guy did it, but that doesn't change the fact that John Berrien, who has already entered a plea to his involvement in the offense, says Juan Melendez was taken there that night by him, and David Falcon testifies that Juan Melendez admitted to me he committed the crime and told me the facts of the offense which match what happened, and based on that evidence the State feels it has proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt and Mr. Melendez should be found guilty of the crime for one reason and one reason only, and that is because he is guilty of the crime and he did -- and he was involved in the commission of the murder and the robbery of Delbert Baker. Thank you.

## (R. 737-38) (emphasis added).

Mr. Melendez's trial counsel in his opening statement encouraged the jury to evaluate the credibility of the State's case, emphasizing that their key witnesses, Mr. Falcon and John

Berrien, both had reasons for testifying against Mr. Melendez (R. 241). Mr. Alcott told the jury that John Berrien had received lenient treatment and that Mr. Falcon had a personal grudge against Mr. Melendez. He then promised the jury that he would show "the incredibility of the State's key witnesses" (R. 243). Mr. Melendez's trial counsel also emphasized the importance of Mr. James in his closing statement:

The third aspect of the defense is the fact that someone else committed this crime and someone else has admitted to committing this crime; someone else the police knew as a suspect way back then; the man who the police dragged in very well right away that morning; a person whose clothes were seized from him; a person who was observed there by another witness at the time, Terry Barber. . .

(R. 710).

### B. THE FIRST RULE 3.850 MOTION

In 1989, Mr. Melendez filed his first motion under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court summarily denied relief, and this Court affirmed. Melendez v. State, 612 So. 2d 1366 (Fla. 1992).

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