IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SEP 2 1997

JUAN ROBERTO MELENDEZ,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CLANK, BURNES COUNT

CASE NO. 88,961

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTW
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M SABELLA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In his affidavit attached to the motion to vacate, John Berrien swears that "Back in April, 1984" he was threatened and coerced by Auburndale police officers Glisson and Knapp to make statements inculpating Melendez in the murder. The officers had a written outline of the statement they wanted Berrien to make and they coached him through his statement with frequent references to the outline. They had a tape recorder but they turned it on only after Berrien had mastered a portion of their statement. While the police were coaching and

threatening him, they turned it off. They threatened his life if he did not say what they told him to say so "I just repeated what they told me to say." Oddly, he concludes his affidavit with this: "If Juan Melendez' trial attorney had asked me about the facts stated above, I would have told him and would have testified about it during Juan Melendez' trial."

The major problem with this so-called Brady violation is that in order to sustain it one has to believe John Berrien. I do not believe John Berrien. Berrien had at least interviews with law enforcement regarding this murder. The first occurred on March 7, 1984 at the Lakeland Department. The interview was conducted by Florida Department of Law Enforcement Agent Tom Roper. Glisson and Knapp were there as was a Lakeland Police detective. The second occurred March 15, 1984 at the Auburndale Presumably, this is the Police Department. Berrien complains of interview in affidavit and testimony. He was arrested after this interview and taken to the Polk County Jail. Two days later Berrien called Det. Glisson and asked him to come to the jail because Berrien had more to say, Glisson, and eventually Roper, took a third confession at the jail. While the three statements differ in detail, they are basically the same. Berrien's difficult to understand how allegedly coerced statement on March 15th vitiates the statement he made on March 7th. Moreover, the police obtained the March 17th statement at the behest of Berrien himself. It seems unlikely that Berrien would summon his tormentors from Auburndale only to subject himself to further threats and coercion. may certainly question Berrien's motives for giving these statements, but there is no credible evidence of police misconduct.

(R 425-428)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant's first claim is that newly discovered evidence establishes his innocence. This evidence not qualify as newly discovered because it was already known and/or it could have been obtained with the exercise of reasonable diligence. Further, it is cumulative to evidence that was actually presented at trial. As the jury has already heard this evidence and, nevertheless, found Melendez guilty as charged, there is little to support a claim that there is a "probability" that it would produce an acquittal on retrial. This is especially true in light of the fact that none of the witnesses produced at the evidentiary hearing could testify that Melendez was not guilty of the murder; the witnesses only testified that Vernon James said he was responsible for setting up the murder and that he was present for the murder.

In his previous Rule 3.850 motion, Melendez had a full and fair hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel and on an alleged <u>Brady</u> violation. As appellant has failed to show why this claim should not be barred as untimely and successive, it is the state's position that he is not entitled to relief. Assuming, <u>arsuendo</u>, Melendez can overcome the procedural bars, he is not entitled to relief on the merits of either the <u>Brady</u> or the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED MELENDEZ'S CLAIM OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE.

Melendez's first claim is that he has newly discovered evidence that establishes his innocence of the instant murder. He claims that previously unknown or unavailable witnesses now establish that Vernon James, not appellant, is guilty of the murder of Mr. Del. An evidentiary hearing was held on this claim by the court below. After hearing all the evidence and argument on the motion, the circuit court rejected Melendez's claim of newly discovered evidence, finding that the evidence did not satisfy the standard set forth by this Court in Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991). It is the state's position that this claim was properly denied by the trial court.

In <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d. 911, 915 (Fla. 1991), this Court set forth the standard for reviewing claims of newly discovered evidence. To establish a newly discovered evidence claim, a defendant must prove the following:

- 1) The facts must have been unknown by trial counsel at the time of trial.
- 2) Defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of due diligence.
- 3) The evidence would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.

Appellant's claim of newly discovered evidence rests on his claim that he now has evidence that Vernon James committed the murder of the victim in the instant case, Mr. Del. This evidence consists of friends of the now deceased Vernon James who claim that James told them he was responsible for the crime, as well as testimony from state witness, John Berrien, that his statement to law enforcement was coerced.

As the court below noted in his Order denying the motion to vacate 'in considering the newly discovered evidence claim it is important to keep in mind the defense which was actually presented to the jury." (PCR 425) A review of the initial trial transcript shows that defense counsel was aware that Vernon James had originally been picked up as a suspect in the instant case and that he actually called Vernon James as a witness for the defense. Vernon James did not testify at trial because after being read his rights and given a public defender to confer with he refused to testify on the grounds that his testimony may tend to incriminate Subsequently, defense counsel represented to the him. (R 595) Court that James had again agreed to testify, but that "Mr. James' fear was that there was a man who was going to testify against him and say he confessed to committing the actual cutting itself, and as that person was not going to be testifying against him and creating evidence for the State against him, he'd be willing to tell about what he knew about the crime, but he was not there.

this witness does not testify against Mr. James, Mr. James is going to be testifying for us tomorrow." (R 625-26)

Defense counsel apparently decided against putting Vernon James on the stand because 'the man who was going to testify against him,' inmate Roger Mims, testified the next day for the defense. Mims testified that Vernon James had told him that Melendez was not responsible for the death of Mr. Del, that he (James) and his partners were the ones who had something to do with it. James told him that "one of the dudes shot him in the head and one shot him in the chest and he fell down, and he (James) took the knife and cut him across the throat." (R 635)

Accordingly, not only does this evidence not qualify as newly discovered because it was already known and/or it could have been obtained with the exercise of reasonable diligence, it is cumulative to evidence that was actually presented at trial. As the jury has already heard this evidence and, nevertheless, found Melendez guilty as charged, there is little to support a claim that there is a "probability" that it would produce an acquittal on retrial. This is especially true in light of the fact that none of the witnesses produced at the evidentiary hearing testified that James actually committed the murder. Rather, the evidence showed that James emphatically denied that he (James) actually killed Mr. Del. Likewise, none of the witnesses produced at the evidentiary hearing could testify that Melendez was not guilty of the murder;

the witnesses only testified that James said he was responsible for setting up the murder and that he was present for the murder.

In support of the newly discovered evidence claim appellant called five witnesses: Deborah Ciotti, Janice Dawson, Sandra Kay James, John Berrien and Dwight Wells. They all claimed that Vernon James had made incriminating statements to them about the murder. The court below specifically found that four of the five were not credible witnesses and their testimony, either individually or cumulatively, falls short of the standard required to grant a retrial. (PCR 426)

Deborah Ciotti, an admitted street prostitute and drug addict testified that she was Vernon James' best friend and they were constantly together. (PCR 91, 97) She described Vernon James as like a brother, "Where he went, I went. Where I went, he went." (PCR 111) It was common knowledge they hung out together. She therefore fails the second prong of Jones. She could have been discovered with due diligence. Her testimony also fails the third prong, that it would have probably produced an acquittal. Ciotti was not a credible witness; whenever she is questioned she adds new facts not previously disclosed and she is an admitted felon, drug abuser and street prostitute. Further, while her testimony may tendhabe I'nweimion James in some type of criminal activity, it does not exculpate Melendez. Vernon James never told her he killedMr. Del. He allegedly showed her a wad of cash and some

narcotics, but nothing was mentioned about the stolen jewelry. She does not know when Mr. Del was killed or if he was killed before, during, or after Vernon James' alleged visit. In addition, she does not know how many people were involved in the homicide. She claimed that "everyone who knew Vernon James knew Deborah Ciotti," which of course raises the question of how she can be considered newly discovered. Regardless, she now says James told her a few days before the murder that he was going to rob the beauty shop. Later she saw James meet some other men and proceed in the direction of the murder scene. After she read about the murder she asked James if he did it and he responded by showing her some money and drugs. He never told her he killed the victim. Because she didn't wish to get involved, she purposely avoided further discussion about the murder with James. As the court below found, her testimony fails both the second and third prong of the Jones test. (PCR 426)

Janice Dawson's testimony likewise lacked credibility and did not exculpate Melendez. Dawson testified that she met Vernon James in prison. Mr. James gave her few details. He never said who committed the murder or how it was done'. She described Mr. James as a con man, a liar, and a person of whom you cannot determine if he is telling the truth. The court below found that her testimony failed prong 3, i.e. that the evidence would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.

Sandra Kay James is Vernon James' sister. She was known to Roger Alcott. Her testimony fails prong 2 in that she could have been discovered with due diligence. She also fails prong 3 in that her testimony does not exculpate Melendez. Vernon James told her he was there but did not commit the murder. He did not tell her who did it, how it was done, how many people were involved, or what was taken. Sandra Kay James is currently serving a 30 year prison sentence. (PCR 375)

Taken together, all three (3) of these individuals are convicted felons with little or no credibility and all were known or could have been discovered at the time of trial. While their testimony incriminates Vernon James in some illegal activity, it does not even address appellant's culpability. They do not know whether Melendez was involved. This type of testimony would not "probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Even if Vernon James was somehow involved, that does not negate Melendez's participation in the murder; they are not mutually exclusive. The state has never maintained that Melendez was the sole participant in this crime.

In fact, at Melendez's trial, the state presented the testimony of confidential informant, David Luna Falcon. Falcon testified that Melendez told him that the black male that was with him had a contact in the school who set up the alleged sexual encounter. Ciotti testified at the evidentiary hearing that she

saw James pick up two black men on the same block and at approximately the same time that Berrien said he dropped off Melendez and George Berrien.

As previously noted, this evidence does not rise to the level required in <u>Jones</u> because it is cumulative to what Mr. Alcott produced at trial. His trial defense involved trying to lay the blame on Vernon James and claiming an alibi for his client, Any evidence concerning Vernon James is not newly discovered as counsel was aware of the defense and with due diligence could have found all of these witnesses.

Regarding the testimony of Dwight Wells, neither Mr. Wells or Mr. Alcott seem to recall if Mr. Wells ever relayed his information concerning Vernon James. If he did, it is not newly discovered. If he didn't, it fails the second prong of Jones because it certainly could have been discovered with due diligence by Mr. Alcott. Wells claims he would have told him if he asked. It is inconceivable that two attorneys representing codefendants would not have discussed such evidence. This argument is especially troublesome considering Wells obviously knew that this was the defense presented at Melendez's trial. As the court below stated with regard to Mr. Wells claim that James had confessed to him:

... I'm not sure what to make of Mr. Well's testimony. It is inconceivable that he would strike a deal to have his client, Barrien, testify against Melendez in a death penalty case if he believed that both Barrien and Melendez were innocent. Yet now, twelve years

after the conviction, he claims that Vernon James confessed that he and the victim were homosexual lovers who had a fight about aggressive sexual advances which resulted in James killing the victim. Never mind that the physical evidence of stabbing and shooting and robbery are inconsistent with this story. Suffice to say that this Mr. Wells' testimony fails both the second and third prong of the floress t.

(PCR 427)

Regardless, none of these witnesses exculpate Mr. Melendez or in any way relieves him of responsibility for the murder. Thus, not only does this evidence not qualify as newly discovered because it could have been discovered with due diligence; when considered in light of the evidence that was presented at the case, it is cumulative and insubstantial and, therefore, fails the third prong of <u>Jones</u>. Accordingly, the trial court properly denied the claim of newly discovered evidence.

ISSUE II

THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY REJECTED MELENDEZ'S CLAIM THAT THE STATE WITHHELD MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE AND PRESENTED FALSE EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF MR. MELENDEZ'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AND HIS CLAIM THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REPRESENTATION WAS INEFFECTIVE IN VIOLATION OF FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The basis of this claim is appellant's contention that Berrien's testimony was a result of threats on Berrien's life made by law enforcement officers. Appellant contends that this claim has never been presented before because of State misconduct and/or trial counsel's ineffectiveness.

Melendez is not entitled to relief on either claim. Melendez has already had a full and fair hearing on his previous Rule 3.850 motion, including his claim of ineffectiveness of trial counsel and an alleged violation of Bradv v. Marvland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). Melendez v. State, 612 So.2d 1366 (Fla. 1992). This Court has repeatedly held that a defendant may not raise claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on a piecemeal basis. Jones v. state, 591 So.2d 913 (1993); Francis v. Barton, 581 So.2d 583 (Fla.), cert.denied, 501 U.S. 1245, 111 S.Ct. 2879, 115 L.Ed.2d 1045 (1991); Squires v. State, 565 So.2d 318 (Fla. 1990). Similarly, unless a defendant can establish that the basis of his Brady claim could not have been discovered, the claim is also barred in a successive motion. Medina v. State, 690

So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1997) (Defendant's Brady claim is barred where the information upon which it is based is not newly discovered) Moreover, as in Jones, Melendez's current motion was filed beyond the two year time limit of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Spaziano v. State, 570 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1990); Lightbourne v. State, 549 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 1989). As appellant has failed to show why this claim should not be barred as untimely and successive, it is the state's position that he is not entitled to relief.

Assuming, <u>arauendo</u>, Melendez can overcome the procedural bars, he is not entitled to relief on the merits of either the <u>Brady</u> or the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

A. Brady

In order to establish a <u>Brady</u> violation, a defendant must establish the following:

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